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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN

Applicant
:
Masons Trustees Limited (Masons)

Scheme
:
Mitchell Shackleton & Company Limited 1988 Pension Plan (the Plan)

Respondent
:
Mr Ian Thomas

MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. The Complainant is the independent trustee of the Plan. The complaint is of maladministration in the way early retirement benefits were granted to Mr Thomas, a  Trustee of the Plan.

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both. I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

RULES AND LEGISLATION

3.
Rule 15 deals with Early Retirements as follows: 

“(A) 
If a Member leaves Service before Normal Pension Date and the following conditions are met, he can choose an immediate pension (the “Early Retirement Pension”) instead of the benefit under Rule 17 (Benefits on leaving the Plan). The immediate pension will be payable as stated in Rule 26 for the rest of his life. 

The conditions referred to above are: 

(1) the Principal Employer agrees to his being offered an Early Retirement Pension, and

(2) (a)
he is leaving because of Incapacity, or

(b) He has attained age 50. 

The Trustees will normally calculate the initial amount of the Early Retirement Pension under (B).

(B) The early retirement pension will be the total of :

(1) an amount calculated as set out in Sub-rile 14(B) (calculation of Normal retirement pension), and

(2) amounts that the Trustees estimate will be the Member’s GMP Increase and Revaluation Increase.

The Trustees will reduce this total by an amount calculated by a method agreed with the Actuary to be reasonable because the pension starts before that date. …” 

4.
Rule 46 deals with Trustees General Powers of Determination:

“(A) With the exception of any powers to be exercised by a participating Employer under the Rules, the Trustees will have power to decide all questions and matters relating to the Plan. In making their decision the Trustees can act on any advice, evidence or presumption (whether legal or not) as they think appropriate.”

5.
Rule 47 deals with the Exercise of Trustee’ Powers: 

“(C) 
A Trustee (or any director, alternate director or officer of a corporate trustee) can make decisions and exercise powers in respect of benefits relating to his membership of the Plan or in which he has a personal interest.”

6.
Rule 48 deals with Trustees’ Liability  


“(A)
A Trustee (or a director, alternate director or officer of a corporate Trustee) will not be liable for 

(1) any acts or omissions not due to his own wilful neglect or default, or

(2) acting on the advice of an auditor appointed under the Rules, the Actuary or any other person who the Trustees consider is qualified to advise them.

(3) The protection that the provisions of this Sub-Rule give to the Trustees (or any director, alternate director or officer of a corporate trustee) is additional to any given by statute, common law or otherwise. It will not exclude or restrict liability for breach of an obligation to take care and exercise skill in the performance of any investment functions if that liability cannot be excluded or restricted because of section 33 of the Pensions Act.”

7.
Section 33 of the Pensions Act 1995 deals with Investment powers: duty of care 

“(1)
Liability for breach of an obligation under any rule of law to take care or exercise skill in the performance of any investment functions, where the function is exercisable

(a)
By a trustee of a trust scheme, or 

(b)
by a person to whom the function has been delegated under section 34, 

cannot be excluded or restricted by any instrument or agreement.

(2)
In this section, references to excluding or restricting liability include

(a)
making the liability or its enforcement subject to restrictive or onerous conditions, 

(b)
excluding or restricting any right or remedy in respect of the liability, or subjecting a person to any prejudice in consequence of his pursuing any such right or remedy, or 

(c)
excluding or restricting rules of evidence or procedure. 

(3)
This section does not apply

(a)
to a scheme falling within any prescribed class or description, or  

(b) to any prescribed description of exclusion or restriction.

MEMBER LITERATURE

8.
“Announcement to all members – February 2003

Following the announcement to members in December, the Trustees and the Company have now reached a decision on the future of the pension Plan. Several changes have been made as to how benefits will accrue in the future and it had reluctantly been decided to ask members to make higher contributions to the Plan. …

It has been necessary to make these changes to reduce the cost to the Plan. The Company was unable to make the level of contributions required to support the previous level of benefits. The valuation revealed that the assets of the Plan were not sufficient to cover the past service benefits accrued. The company will make payments over a period of time to make good this deficit in addition to paying contributions for future benefits. …

…

You need to be aware of the potential wind-up position, although the Company and Trustees are doing all they can to avoid this having to happen. Keeping the Plan going even on a reduced level of benefits represents in our view, the best option at the present.

MINUTES OF MITCHELL SHACKLETON BOARD MEETINGS

9.
Board Meeting Number 253 – 29 November 2002

253/6       Resignations :
The resignation of Mr I Thomas was accepted and the Chairman expressed his appreciation for the work that Mr Thomas had done over the years for the Company.

Board Meeting Number 254 – 28 January 2003

254/2
[WD] explained that the initial projections covering the Company’s future indicated that it would not be possible to fund the deficit on the pension fund, which currently stood at 1.3m and was deteriorating each day in light of stock market trends.

254/3
…The immediate decision which had to be taken on funding was whether we should sign up to the new schedule to pay the pension fund deficit at £204,000 per annum for three years prior to the next valuation. .    This would probably mean the deficit would disappear by 2006.

254/4
[WD] stated that winding up the pension fund now would be catastrophic for pension fund members especially in light of this current extremely low stock market valuation. The winding up of the pension scheme now would effectively mean that the business would be destroyed. 

254/5
The current projections of the financial model of the business indicated that for ongoing viability it would be necessary for the workforce to make a significant sacrifice in terms of pay and conditions. This was unquantified at present. …”

MINUTES OF TRUSTEES MEETINGS

10.
Trustee Meeting  - 27 November 2002

3. Mr Thomas informed the Trustees of impending early retirements which the Company had consented to as part of its recent cost reduction program – 

Mr I Thomas effective 30 November 2002

Mr [FWD] effective 31 December 2002

Mr [EB] effective 31 December 2002 

4. After discussion it was agreed to approach the Company with a formal request to increase its contribution rate by a minimum of 9% following advice from the Actuary, in recognition of the likely level of underfunding to be revealed in the forthcoming emergency valuation.   

MATERIAL FACTS

11. Mr Thomas was born on 22 August 1946 and became a member of the Plan on 3 May 1994.

12. Mr Thomas’ Service Agreement was with National Forge Europe Limited. National Forge Europe Limited was admitted to the Plan as a participating employer by a Deed of Covenant dated 9 September 1999. The Principal Employer is Mitchell Shackleton & Company Limited (Mitchell Shackleton). The ultimate shareholder of Mitchell Shackleton is National Forge Company, which is based in the USA. Mr Thomas was Managing Director of Mitchell Shackleton. 

13. On 21 June 1999, Mitchell Shackleton and the Trustees issued a Special Member’s letter to Mr Thomas outlining the special provisions applicable to him under the Plan. The letter stated that Mr Thomas’ accrual rate would be at 1/30th of pensionable earnings for each year of service subject to his pension being limited to an overall maximum of 2/3rds Final Pensionable Earnings. The letter further advised that, with the consent of Mitchell Shackleton, Mr Thomas may retire at any time from his 50th birthday and receive an immediate pension using the formula applicable to the Target Leaving Service Pension. The Target Leaving Service Pension formula is follows : 

N* x Final Pensionable Earnings/30 + Transfer In – 

Where N* = years and complete months (expressed as a fraction of a year) of Pensionable Service to the date of leaving service, subject to a maximum of 9 years and 2 months.      

The letter concludes : 

“The aim of the Company and the Trustees is to provide you, in the event of your early retirement or early leaving, with 1/30th of Final Pensionable earnings for each year of your Pensionable Service, subject to a maximum of 9 years 2 months. This is payable in addition to the benefits attributable to your transfer-in (10.8333/30 x Final Pensionable Earnings). It is not possible to (in order to comply with Inland Revenue requirements), in the event of your early retirement or early leaving to pre-fund this level of benefit without regard to the Inland Revenue maximum pension which can be provided at Normal Retiring Date. However, this letter has been designed to maximise the scope to pre-fund your special benefit promise and it is anticipated that in the vast majority of cases it will be possible to justify the pre-funding of your target benefits.

Under current Inland Revenue practice we confirm it is always possible to provide your promised benefits by augmentation at the date of your retirement or leaving, in the event that the target benefits cannot be justified by reference to this letter, and we confirm it is the Company’s and Trustees’ intention to do this as necessary.”   

14. The Plan is administered by Mercers Human Resources Consulting Limited (Mercers) and the Actuary for the Plan is employed by Mercers. On 29 November 1999, the Plan Actuary sent a facsimile to Mr Thomas headed ‘Your Benefits’. The facsimile identifies the cost of pre-funding the benefit promise made to Mr Thomas to be in the region of £14,000, in respect of past service and 9% of salary as the ongoing cost. 

15. In December 1999 Mitchell Shackleton paid the Trustees £16,700 (£14,000 for past service costs plus £2700, being 9% of Mr Thomas’ salary for the 6 months to December 1999). The payment to the Trustees was sent with a letter dated 15 December 1999 which advised that a sum of £450 (9% of salary) would be remitted each month with effect from January 2000. Special Contributions received by the Trustees from the Employer are shown in the Plan Accounts for the years ending 31 March 2000, 31 March 2001 and 31 March 2002.

16. On 27 June 2002 the Plan Actuary wrote to Mr Thomas, in his capacity as Managing Director of Mitchell Shackleton, confirming that the MFR funding level stood at 88.5%. The deficit at that time was £651,000. The letter went on to confirm that having discussed the options available it was decided that an emergency valuation as at 30 June 2002 should be undertaken.

17. On 23 August 2002 Mr Thomas wrote to [ERC], who at the time was Chairman of both National Forge (Europe) Limited and National Forge Company and a director of Mitchell Shackleton, advising that he wished to take early retirement with effect from 31 December 2002. Mr Thomas’ letter reads : 

“Further to our recent telephone conversations I confirm my wish to take early retirement with effect from the 31 December 2002.

I have arrived at this decision after giving the matter a great deal of thought and taking into account the following factors. 

Firstly, I will have accrued 39/60ths pension benefit by December which is almost the maximum allowed by the Inland Revenue and having paid considerable attention to pension planning throughout my working life I consider I owe it to my family not to jeopardise our future financial security. 

Secondly, I am acutely aware that the recent re-financing exercise in the UK will put a further strain on the UK business at a difficult time for manufacturing in general and Mitchell Shackleton in particular. 

Thirdly, I am nervous of the situation confronting National Forge with regard to the change of ownership, timing and possible change in senior personnel not to mention the possibility of being owned by the ‘creditors committee’. 

I assure you that it is not my intention to cause problems at this time for either Mitchell Shackleton or National Forge but the whole purpose of negotiating an accelerated pension benefit when I was appointed Managing Director was to achieve early retirement in such circumstances.

In considering this request please be assured that I would be prepared to assist in any way that is possible to ensure the smooth transition of Mitchell Shackleton into new ownership in the hope that this will provide long term viability for the Company and its employees.”

18. On 26 September 2002, Mr Thomas wrote again to [ERC] :

“Further to the discussions over recent months with yourself and [MC (Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary of National Forge Company and a Director of both National Forge Company and Mitchell Shackleton)] I confirm my request to take early retirement with effect from the 31 December 2002.

I have arrived at this decision after giving the matter a great deal of thought and taking into account the following factors. 

Firstly, I will have accrued 39/60th pension benefit by December which is almost the maximum allowed by the Inland Revenue and having paid considerable attention to pension planning throughout my working life I consider I owe it to my family not to jeopardise our future financial security. 

Secondly, I am nervous of the situation confronting National Forge and Mitchell Shackleton with regard to the uncertainties associated with the change of ownership generally. In particular I am especially mindful of the timing of possible changes in senior personnel at NF and the potential repercussions this may have on my future pension benefits. 

Finally, and most importantly I am very concerned about my ongoing heart condition which clearly carries the prospect of a shortened lifespan and I cannot see that continuing in my present role under today’s pressures is a sensible course of action for me to pursue. 

I assure you that it is not my intention to cause problems at this time for either Mitchell Shackleton or National Forge but the whole purpose of negotiating an accelerated pension benefit when I was appointed Managing Director was to achieve early retirement in such circumstances.

In considering this request please be assured that I would be prepared to assist in any way that is possible to ensure the smooth transition of Mitchell Shackleton into new ownership in the hope that this will provide long term viability for the Company and its employees.”

19. On 21 October 2002 the Plan Actuary wrote to the Trustees regarding the funding position of the Plan. The letter stated: 

“You will be aware that the funding position of the Pension Plan has deteriorated significantly over the last two to three years and in particular in the last six months.” 

20. The letter concluded that the latest estimate showed that the deficit had grown to over £1m and the additional contribution required to correct the deficit over ten years would be about £170,000 pa, about 12% of current pensionable earnings. The Actuary recommended that the Trustees ask Mitchell Shackleton to increase their contribution by a least 9% of Pensionable Earnings.

21. On 30 October 2002, [ERC], wrote to both Mr Thomas and the Plan Actuary. His letter to Mr Thomas confirmed that the Company was in agreement to his taking early retirement with effect from 30 November 2002. The letter to the Plan Actuary confirmed that the Company was “in agreement to his taking early retirement in accordance with the provisions of the Mitchell Shackleton & Co Ltd 1988 Pension Plan, effective from 30 November 2002”. Both letters were written on the letterhead of the National Forge Company.

22. On 7 November 2002 Mr Thomas, in his capacity as Chairman of the Trustees, wrote to the Plan Actuary with details of his final pensionable salary. In his letter Mr Thomas refers to a meeting he had with the Plan Actuary on 30 August 2002 and subsequent conversations. The Plan Actuary provided Mr Thomas with a quotation of his benefits on 14 November 2002. 

23. On 29 November 2002 the Trustees made a formal request for Mitchell Shackleton to increase its contribution to the Plan by a minimum of 9%. Mr Thomas commenced receipt of his early retirement benefits under the Plan from 30 November 2002. His early retirement pension as at 30 November 2002, after application of an early retirement factor, amounted to £39,836.24 per annum. Mr Thomas took the maximum tax-free cash lump sum allowed of £89,632 and a reduced pension of £32,444.04. 

24. In November 2002 Mitchell Shackleton entered into a Consultancy Agreement with Atherden & Co Chartered Accountants. The commencement date of the agreement was 1 December 2002 and the expiry date, 31 May 2003. Mr Thomas was employed by Atherden & Company to undertake consultancy work for Mitchell Shackleton. Clause 4 of the agreement sets out the Consultant’s duties as follows : 

“4.
The Consultant’s Duties
(a) The Consultant will provide the Company such services as the Board may from time to time reasonably require including but not limited to the “Service”.

4.2
The Consultant will:

(a) provide the Service at all times to the best of his knowledge, power and ability;

(b) give to the Board such explanations, information and assistance as it may reasonably require.

(c) Comply with all reasonable directions of the Board.

4.3 During the Term the Consutant shall advise and assist the Company and/or the Board as reasonably required in all accounting and general administration aspects of its business including, and in particular, but without prejudice to the generality of the above “Service” as follows:

(a) Preparation of the monthly management accounts;

(b) Preparation of the forecasts and budgets as required;

(c) Completion of VAT/PAYE/NI returns as required;

(d) Supervision of accounts personnel of the Company ;

(e) Preparation of the statutory accounts 

(f) Assistance with Company Secretarial duties;

(g) Management Consultancy services;

(h) Cash management

(i) Assistance with the sale of the Company

(j) Any other duties normally associated with an accounts department.

Paragraph 14 of the Agreement provides that the Consultant shall be an independent contractor and not the servant of the Company.

“Service” means the services as detailed in Paragraph 4.3 of the Agreement. 

25. On 11 December 2002 the Plan Actuary issued the Actuarial Valuation, as at 30 June 2002, and an MFR Statement to the Trustees. The MFR statement stated that as at the valuation date the Plan was 85% funded on the MFR basis. The Actuary confirmed that applying the assets to secure liabilities in accordance with Section 73(3) of the Pensions Act 1995, she had calculated that the assets were sufficient to cover 100% of the liabilities for all classes of member excluding post retirement pension increases and 34% of the value of the post retirement pension increases. She recommended that the Trustees agree to reduce cash equivalent transfer values in accordance with Regulation 8 of the Occupational Pension Scheme (Transfer Value) Regulations 1996.

26. On 23 January 2003 the Plan Actuary sent an e-mail to Mr Thomas entitled ‘MFR Deficit Update’. The e-mail advised that the deficit has increased to over £1.3M and that, although there has been a decrease in the liabilities, this did not match the fall in the assets. She advised that in order to make up the deficit Mitchell Shackleton would have to make a contribution of £204,000 pa for the next 10 years. 

27. On 17 March 2003, the Plan Actuary wrote again to Mr Thomas: 

“As discussed in the December and January Trustee meetings, the funding position of the Plan on an ongoing, an MFR and a solvency basis is far from healthy. If the Plan were to wind up there would be insufficient assets to secure the benefits of all the members in full. I have written to you separately about the ongoing funding position and about transfer values. This letter concentrates on the solvency position and how this is affected by early retirements.

Under current legislation, expenses, AVCs and pensions in payment would rank higher in the priority order on a wind-up than the benefits for the active and deferred members of the plan. This means that the assets available could be used first to satisfy the priority liabilities and then any remaining assets would be used to secure benefits as far as possible for the benefits of lower order priority….

When a member moves from deferred or active status to pensioner status he immediately moves up the priority order. When a member reaches normal retirement age, this movement is part of the normal course of events and he is doing no more than taking his entitlement under the plan rules. Where the retirement is before normal pension age, company consent is needed and there is an unexpected shift in the coverage of the various categories of members. There is also a strain on the fund because the early retirement factors are relatively generous (having been adopted some years ago when there was surplus in the plan). We could review the factors to make them broadly cost neutral but this would not prevent the reduction in coverage for the non-retired members. The reduction is a direct result of the retiring member moving up the priority order as described above. 

Under the Rules the Trustees have no power to refuse early retirement. This is the Company’s decision. However, part of the Trustees’ duty is to protect the interests of all the members of the plan. If the Company puts forward a member for early retirement, I recommend that the Trustees should ask that the Company pays an extra amount into the plan equivalent to the difference between the full solvency cost of the early retirement pension and the reserve held in respect of the member as an active or deferred pensioner. Such a payment would ensure that the coverage for the remaining members of the plan would not worsen.”   

28. Joint Administrators were appointed to Mitchell Shackleton on 26 June 2003. Masons was appointed as Independent Trustee of the Plan on 7 August 2003, the other trustees being Mr Thomas, Mr W Davies and Mr P Egan. 

29. At a meeting of the directors of Masons held on 7 August 2003, it was resolved that in accordance with the Rules of the Plan, the Plan would commence winding up with effect from 7 August 2003, which date would also be the crystallisation date for the purposes of the priority order on winding up as set out in Section 73 of the Pensions Act 1995.

SUBMISSIONS

30.
Intention to take early retirement

30.1
Mr Thomas’ representatives say: 
· It was always Mr Thomas’ intention to take early retirement at the age of 56. This desire was fully recognised by Mitchell Shackleton who paid an additional 9% of Mr Thomas’ salary into the Plan backdated to when he rejoined the company in 1994 until his retirement.

· Health considerations were an important part in both Mr Thomas’ intention to take early retirement and the timing of his application following a period of intense personal stress leading up to the refinancing of Mitchell Shackleton.

· It is accepted by all parties that Mr Thomas had a ‘long standing intention’ to retire early. Whilst this is not in itself relevant to the conditions required to qualify for early retirement, it does refute the Complainant’s implicit allegation that Mr Thomas acted cynically in choosing his early retirement date.

· Mr Thomas’ role in the lead up to his retirement had been to remove the threat of foreclosure by the banks. He did this, by a combination of sale and leaseback of the Mitchell Shackleton property. The majority of the monies raised by the disposal of the properties was paid to the American bankers of National Forge Co who believed that the refinancing in the UK would assist them to trade through bankruptcy and retain control and continue to support the UK. The majority of the threat to foreclosure was removed by 24 July 2002. Mr Thomas retired believing that Mitchell Shackleton’s future and its ability to support the Plan was assured by continued support from National Forge Co.  In the final event Mitchell Shackleton was excluded from the sale of National Forge Co to Ellwood group on 7 January 2003, which damaged its profile in the marketplace.
30.2
Masons submit : 

· Any intention to retire on Mr Thomas’ part is irrelevant. The qualifying test for early retirement is to satisfy the conditions laid out in rule 15(A). A long standing intention does not have any bearing on the decision whether or not to offer early retirement.
· There is no evidence that Mr Thomas intended to retire at a specific date. A long standing intention to retire would not preclude Mr Thomas from choosing the most opportune moment to do so. Given the amount of time between diagnosis/unsuccessful treatment and the application for early retirement it can hardly be said that Mr Thomas did not at the very least have the opportunity to choose the most beneficial time at which to request early retirement.
· Mr Thomas did not retire believing that Mitchell Shackleton’s future and its ability to continue to support the Plan was assured as stated in his response. As demonstrated in his letters dated 23 August 2002 and 26 September 2002.  
31.
Trustees Discretion

31.1
Masons submit :

· That as a Trustee Mr Thomas had powers or discretion to exercise in relation to early retirement on the following basis : 

· Rule 15(A)(1) requires Principal Employer agreement to the offering of an early retirement pension. As the Principal Employer must agree to the offer of early retirement benefits, the only realistic party who could make the offer appears to be the Trustees.

· The Rules state that the Principal Employer must agree to the offer, and it is the Principal Employer which would allow the leaving of service. It is a common provision in scheme rules that offers of early retirement are made by the trustees and consented to by the principal employer without any suggestion that this involves the trustees in making an ultra vires inducement to the employee to leave service.

31.2
Mr Thomas’ representatives say: 

· As a Trustee Mr Thomas had no involvement in the decision to grant his early retirement. The Trustees did not have any discretion in this regard under the Plan trust deed and rules. If the Trustees were to attempt to exercise a power or discretion in this regard they would be acting ultra vires. If the Trustees of the Plan were intended to have such discretion the Rules would have stated this explicitly.

· The Trustees were under the clear understanding that the granting of early retirement benefits required the consent of the Company and as such had no discretion in the decision process. Mr Thomas acted in good faith and did not at any time act as a sole Trustee. 

· The Early Retirement rule states that the Principal Employer must agree to early retirement being offered. It is not a practical proposition to state that the offer ‘must’ come from the Trustees. A member in Mr Thomas’ position must actually leave service in order for a pension to be paid; it is impossible for the Trustees to offer to allow an employee to cease active service. They have no power to do so, would be acting ultra vires and the employer concerned could possibly take legal action against the trustees for inducing an employee to break his contract of employment.

32.
Company Consent to Early Retirement/Procedures followed

32.1
Masons submit : 

· Item 19 of the minutes of the Trustees’ meeting held on 27 November 2002 do not show any discussion by the Trustees concerning offers of early retirement benefits. It does not appear that there was any liaison between the Board of Trustees as a whole and the Plan Actuary as to the calculation of the early retirement pension as required by Rule 15. Nor was the correct procedure followed for calculating the amount of early retirement pension, requiring trustees and actuarial agreement.

· Mitchell Shackleton, as Principal Employer, does not appear to have undertaken a proper consideration process for granting early retirement benefits in accordance with the Plan Rules, taking into account the effect of granting significant early retirement benefits to Mr Thomas upon the Plan membership as a whole, the financial difficulties faced by Mitchell Shackleton and the Plan

· Both letters giving consent to Mr Thomas retiring early are on National Forge Company letterhead. It is not correct to say that simply because [ERC] was Chairman of Mitchell Shackleton, National Forge (Europe) Limited and National Forge Company that his consent is sufficient, regardless of the role in which he gives it. The minutes of the Board meeting of Mitchell Shackleton on 29 November 2002 confirm only that Mr Thomas’ resignation has been accepted. They do not state that consent was given to his early retirement. Valid consent to early retirement has not been given.

32.2
Mr Thomas’ representatives’ response : 

· Mr Thomas’ application was in accordance with the Plan trust deed and rules governing early retirement. The letter giving consent states ‘On behalf of National Forge Europe Ltd I confirm that the Company is in agreement with Ian Thomas taking early retirement in accordance with the provisions of the Mitchell Shackleton & Co Ltd 1988 Pension Plan ..’ and has been signed by [ERC]. [ERC] had authority to make decisions and sign documents on behalf of Mitchell Shackleton. Further item 6 of the Mitchell Shackleton board minutes state ‘To accept the resignation of Mr I Thomas who has been granted early retirement to be effective from 30 November 2002…’  

· It is accepted that consent was not given on Company letter headed paper, and therefore this aspect was not strictly in accordance with the early retirement rule. However, Mr Thomas states that a full review was carried out both in the UK and USA prior to his retirement. Please see Document 2 which contains written confirmation from [ERC] to the effect that the Company agreed in practice to Mr Thomas’ early retirement in line with the Plan Rules. If the Complainant seeks to overturn Mr Thomas’ early retirement on the basis that the administrative requirements were not fully met then, in the interests of the Plan, they should review each and every early retirement to ensure that it also met the strict administrative criteria laid down in the early retirement rule. 

Document 2 is a letter dated 14 October 2004 from [ERC] the former Chairman of Mitchell Shackleton and reads as follows :

“On October 30, 2002 I wrote Mr Ian Thomas a letter approving his early retirement from Mitchell Shackelton and Company Limited. This retirement was effective from November 30, 2002. On behalf of Mitchell Shackleton & Company LTD I fully and freely consented to his early retirement and believed it to be in accordance with the 1988 Mitchell Shackleton & Company LTD Pension Plan which was in effect at that time. 

· Masons acknowledge the newly produced Document 2. However, they submit that this letter does not alter the fact that the requisite consent to Mr Thomas’ early retirement was not obtained at the correct time. 

33.
Post retirement involvement with the Company

33.1
Masons submit
· After commencing receipt of his pension benefits Mr Thomas continued to be involved with Mitchell Shackleton. This is clear from the minutes of company board meetings and trustees meetings which Mr Thomas continued to attend after his retirement. After commencing receipt of his pension benefits, Mr Thomas was employed by Atherden & Company and undertook consultancy work for Mitchell Shackleton.

· Mr Thomas continued to perform very similar duties after his retirement. He continued to be involved with the financial side of Mitchell Shackleton, including preparation of management accounts and management of cash. It appears that his roles pre and post retirement were very similar which raises concerns as to whether or not this was a proper and true retirement.  
33.2
Mr Thomas’ representatives’ response : 

· Mr Thomas did retire from his position within the company and subsequently performed entirely different duties on behalf of Atherden & Co. Following his retirement Mr Thomas commenced self employed trading as Ian Thomas Accountancy Services. Mr Thomas was sub contracted to Atherden & Co who had entered a contract with Mitchell Shackleton. The agreement with Atherden & Co required Ian Thomas Accountancy Services to provide an on-site Financial Management service covering 4 days per week. Atherden & Co’s remuneration for this service was £5000 and Mr Thomas’ remuneration from Atherden & Co was £3750 per month. Mr Thomas whilst contracted by Atherden & Co was no longer involved with the management affairs or a signatory of the bank account of company. All strategic decisions made after Mr Thomas’ retirement were made by the Chairman and the Managing Director of the Company. Reference is made to Mr Thomas’ post retirement attendance at Company board meetings. The minutes in each case state that Mr Thomas was in attendance and that he was not involved in any decision making. 

34.
Information available about the Plan deficit at the time of Mr Thomas’ early retirement

34.1
Masons submit
· The Plan has a significant shortfall on winding up. The most recent accounts for the Plan to 30 June 2003 show the Plan’s net assets to be £3,803,311. The debt on the employer claim under Section 75 of the Pensions Act 1995 is estimated to be in the region of £8,000,000 however any recoveries are expected to be small, perhaps in the region of 1 to 2 pence in the pound.

· It is anticipated that following the Pensions Act 1995 priority order, the Plan will only have sufficient assets to secure pensions in payment at commencement of winding up, excluding future increases, and part of the MFR value of deferred pensioners’ contracted out rights, excluding annual increases in payment. 
· The documentation illustrates that the Plan’s funding difficulties were apparent by mid 2002 at the latest, and were certainly well established by time of Mr Thomas’ early retirement under the Plan. Not only does the decision making process itself appear questionable, but the fact that knowledge of the Plan underfunding was not brought to bear upon the decision to grant Mr Thomas’ early retirement benefits is considered to be maladministration. Had the Plan’s funding position properly been taken into account, it would have become clear that the Plan could not sustain Mr Thomas’ early retirement benefits in November 2002, and that to grant these benefits would have a detrimental effect upon other members, at a time when the Principal Employer was experiencing serious financial difficulties, such that it was unclear as to how the Plan would continue to be funded.
· Even if, as claimed the Actuarial Valuation was not received until after Mr Thomas’ retirement, it is clear from preceding documents that Mr Thomas would have been fully aware of the outcome of that valuation before taking early retirement. 

34.2
Mr Thomas’ representatives’ response :

· At the time of Mr Thomas’ application for early retirement, the under funding of the Plan had improved from £900k to £650k.

35.
Other early retirement cases

35.1
Masons submit : 
· [EB] and [FWD] were employees of Mitchell Shackleton who took early retirement benefits under the Plan with effect from 31 December 2000. It is considered that their cases can be distinguished from Mr Thomas’ case, and this application is therefore not in relation to these members’ benefits, although it is considered relevant to mention them. Their annual pensions are understood to be £5709.84 in the case of [EB] and £5014.92 in the case of [FWD]. It is not clear whether these benefits were granted as early retirement benefits or ill health early retirement benefits (we believe the former) however, we understand that these members were suffering certain health difficulties so that their retirements were undoubtedly at the end of their working life with Mitchell Shackleton. After their retirement they no longer undertook any work in connection with Mitchell Shackleton. Further these members were non directors and trustees, and their retirement benefits were considerably lower than those of Mr Thomas. 
· It is also considered relevant to mention [AL], a Plan member and a former director of Mitchell Shackleton who retired on 31 May 2003 and took ill health early retirement benefits under the Plan of £9468.72. Masons has reviewed this matter and investigated the nature of the medical evidence obtained. [AL]’s benefits are not the subject of this application. 
· The combination of being a director and a trustee gave Mr Thomas a significant insight into the financial position of both the Plan and Mitchell Shackleton. He therefore had sufficient information to enable him to choose the most opportune moment to request early retirement, information which was not available to [EB] or [FWD].  
· The complaint is not brought against Mr Thomas simply due to the fact that he is receiving a larger pension than other members. Rather it is due to a combination of factors which distinguish him from other early retirees including the size of his benefits, his fiduciary duty as a Trustee, his post-retirement work for Mitchell Shackleton and the information that would have been available to him as a director of Mitchell Shackleton. 
35.2
Mr Thomas’ representatives’ response : 

· Other cases of ill health early retirement are mentioned but are apparently not being pursued because the members were not ‘directors and trustees and their retirement benefits were consistently less than those of Mr Thomas’ Firstly, Mr Thomas’ role as a Director is outside the scope of this response, secondly Mr Thomas’ role as a Trustee could not have an impact on whether or not he could take Early Retirement and therefore in this regard he had as little influence as a non trustee. Finally, Mitchell Shackleton made increased contributions in preparation of the increased strain which Mr Thomas’ Early Retirement placed upon the Plan. It is not fair or reasonable to bring a complaint against Mr Thomas simply due to the fact that he is receiving a larger pension than other members. Why has no complaint been pursued against other recipients of early retirement benefits? It must follow that either the processes followed by the Trustees and Mitchell Shackleton in all cases are under question or a witch hunt against Mr Thomas alone is being pursued due to the size of his benefits. What is the level of benefits above which procedures become incorrect or questionable? In addition to the early retirements, referred to in the Complaint, there was also the early retirement of [AE] which whilst a few months earlier was part of the same cost reduction exercise. [AE] who had completed over 40 years service with the Company took early retirement at the age of 64. 

36.
Reliance on Actuarial Advice

36.1
Masons submit : 

· The advice the Trustees relied on was dated 29 November 1999. Given the time lapse between the advice and early retirement the Trustees should have been proactive in asking the then Plan Actuary whether this advice was still valid. 
· In the minutes of the Trustee’s meeting of 10 July 2003 it is noted that the Plan Actuary ‘…appeared to have made several mistakes as can be verified in previous Trustees’ meeting minutes’. Minutes of Trustees meetings held on 9 December 1999 and 10 October 2000 record errors committed by Mercers and the Trustees’ dissatisfaction. It can therefore be said that the Trustees’ were aware of Mercers’ administrative errors at the time of Mr Thomas’ retirement. If the Trustees including Mr Thomas accept this view it raises further questions as to why the Plan Actuary’s advice was so readily accepted without further investigation.
36.2
Mr Thomas’ representative submits :

· As a Trustee Mr Thomas sought specific advice from the Actuary regarding his own retirement and received unqualified assurance that he was doing nothing wrong. Additionally, the Actuarial Valuation revealing the shortfall on MFR of £1068 was not received by the Trustees until early December, after Mr Thomas’ retirement.   

· The Complainant is questioning the Trustees’ reliance on actuarial advice which the Plan Actuary had given three years before, and which given her professional judgement she had not considered necessary to review and update until after Mr Thomas retired. To the extent that reliance on this advice is seen as failure on the Trustees’ part, the Complainant should join all of the Trustees as respondents to this complaint. It is not appropriate to single out Mr Thomas. 
· The Trustees considered the Plan Actuary was qualified to advise them at the time. The fact that the Actuary’s ability to do so was later brought into question does not have a bearing on whether the Trustees acted reasonably at the relevant time.

· The Complainant contends that Mr Thomas asking the Plan Actuary if he were doing anything wrong proves that he knew he was doing something wrong, If Mr Thomas were acting in the extreme bad faith being alleged, he would surely not have sought professional advice on the matter. Furthermore, it proves that his fiduciary duties were uppermost in his mind when he contemplated retiring early as he had planned.

37.
Trustees

37.1
Masons submit :

· As a trustee Mr Thomas ought not to have made assumptions about the sale of Mitchell Shackleton before its completion. His duty was to consider the financial position of the Plan at the time of taking early retirement and not its speculative position after a purchase which had not gone through. This is particularly the case in this instance where he also had the benefit of his knowledge of the financial position of the Company due to his role as director. Mr Thomas’ letter of 26 September 2002 indicates that barely two months before his retirement he was ‘nervous’ with regard to the uncertainties associated with the change of ownership. This is not compatible with the view put forward in the response that the sale of the Company was a formality and not a cause for concern for the Trustees.
· Mr Thomas attempts to invoke protection from the trustee exoneration clause. It is Masons contention that Mr Thomas was wilfully negligent in taking his early retirement given his awareness of the deterioration in the funding position of the Plan and that as the extra contributions advised by the Plan Actuary were nearly three years out of date this advice can not be relied upon. In any event Rule 48 only protects a trustee from ‘being liable’. It does not protect a wrongly-granted early retirement from being undone, whether as a consequence of wilful neglect or not.

· Given Mr Thomas’ confidence that his request for early retirement was entirely proper it is curious that he was unwilling to put his application to the new management.

37.2
Mr Thomas’ representatives’ response : 
· Following Mr Thomas’ retirement he continued to be a Trustee as being a pensioner member did not prevent him from doing this and it was perceived that he could still add value. If Mr Thomas considered he had done something wrong or been challenged by any of the other Trustees he would have resigned immediately as trustee upon retirement from the Company. Mr Thomas remained a Trustee until, along with Pete Egan and Bill Davies he was removed by the Complainant.

· It is contended that Mr Thomas is entitled to be exonerated under Rule 48 of the Rules. There can be no allegation of wilful negligence in his capacity as trustee  because as a trustee Mr Thomas had no powers or discretion to exercise in relation to early retirement. Mr Thomas’ knowledge of the Plan deficit at the time of retirement is not relevant. Underfunded schemes can and still do allow members to retire early, on the basis of actuarial advice and on the payment of additional contributions, as necessary to support the early retirement, which had been made on a regular basis by Mitchell Shackleton. Additionally, Mr Thomas is entitled to protection under section 61 of the Trustees Act 1925.

· We do not agree with the contention that there is a duty on Mr Thomas to look at the wider financial implications to the funding position of the scheme and to the effect upon other members’ benefits of his taking early retirement. The only question is whether Mr Thomas’ conduct was sufficient to take him outside of the protection of the exoneration provisions in rule 48. For the conduct to be ‘wilful’ the trustee must be conscious that he is committing a breach of duty in acting or omitting to act or is recklessly indifferent as to whether he is in breach of duty. Neither test is satisfied.

· Mr Thomas was nervous about the change of ownership only because he feared that the existing senior management of the Company would not survive the change in ownership because both [ERC] and [MC] were in agreement with Mr Thomas’ early retirement. He did not want to have to “jump through hoops again” with new management.

CONCLUSIONS

38. The first part of this complaint relates to whether the Trustees have any discretion in offering an early retirement pension under the Rules which govern the Plan, as opposed to simply implementing a decision made by the Principal Employer.

39. Rule 15 is clear that the consent of the Principal Employer is a precondition to the member having an entitlement to an annual pension in certain circumstances, namely retirement before normal retirement date albeit on or after the member's 50th birthday, or in the case of incapacity. Such a pension is to be calculated in accordance with rule sub-Rule 14(B) and then to be reduced by an amount determined by the Plan's Actuary and agreed by the Trustees.

40. The interpretation put forward by Masons suggests that as Rule 15 requires the agreement of the Principal Employer to the offer of an early retirement pension then the only realistic party who could make that offer would be the Trustees. Masons ask why, if the offer does not come from the Trustees, there would be a need for them to agree to the offer. On the other hand Mr Thomas, through his representatives, argues that the Trustees do not have any discretion in this regard. They contend that, if the Trustees were intended to have such discretion, the Rules would have stated this explicitly.

41. In my view, the Rules allow the Principal Employer to decide whether or not to grant consent to early access to pension benefits when a member leaves service. The Principal Employer is not obliged to grant its consent. The effect of withholding consent would mean that the member becomes entitled to deferred benefits and, thus, able to apply to the Trustee for early payment of those benefits (on a reduced basis) in accordance with rule 17.  The Trustees are responsible, having sought appropriate advice, for ascertaining the level of pension which may be offered.

42. In deciding whether to give its consent for the payment of an immediate pension the financial health of the Company and its obligations toward the Plan are matters the Principal Employer must properly take into account.

43. Masons contend that the Trustees should have been proactive in asking the Plan Actuary whether the advice given with regard to Mr Thomas’ early retirement in 1999 was still valid. They further contend that Mr Thomas as a Trustee did not properly consider the wider financial implications of his early retirement. From the evidence provided it is clear that actuarial advice was sought. From August 2002 until his retirement Mr Thomas, as Chairman of the Trustees, was in regular contact with the Plan Actuary concerning his early retirement benefits. The Actuary, although clearly aware that the Plan was in deficit, did not at any time advise Mr Thomas that the fund may not be able to sustain the cost of his early retirement benefits. Indeed she did not give any advice regarding early retirements in relation to the financial position of the fund until March 2003.

44. I see no justification in the argument that Mr Thomas must have known he was doing something wrong when he asked the Plan Actuary if there was anything wrong in him taking early retirement because he was a Trustee. To my mind it is more likely that he was considering the financial implications his early retirement may have on the fund and was seeking reassurance, which he received.

45. Masons have submitted that Mr Thomas’ early retirement was not subject to proper consent by the Principal Employer, as required by the Rules. Rule 15 provides for a Member to retire from Service with the consent of the Principal Employer before Normal Pension Date. There is no reference to written consent being required. Albeit that the letter from [ERC] was written on National Forge Company letterhead, it is clear from the correspondence between Mr Thomas and [ERC] who at the time was Chairman of both National Forge (Europe) Limited and National Forge Company and a director of Mitchell Shackleton, that Mr Thomas’ proposed retirement was well known to the Board of Mitchell Shackleton I accept that Principal Employer consent was given in accordance with the provisions of Rule 15.

46. Mr Thomas’ representatives contend that he is protected by the exoneration clause. The Trustees would be protected by the exoneration clause unless their failings amount to a wilful act or default. The clause would protect the trustees if they were trying honestly to do what was right notwithstanding that their conduct might with the benefit of hindsight be seen to be inappropriate. Masons seek to show that Mr Thomas either deliberately ignored the effect his retirement would have on the security of the other members' benefits or was recklessly indifferent to the effect. The evidence submitted to me indicates that Mr Thomas, had certainly been made aware, prior to his application to take early retirement, that the Plan was in deficit but he had not at that time been made aware by the Plan Actuary of the effect that payment of early retirements benefits could have on the fund. Indeed, it was not until 17 March 2003 that the Actuary gave this advice, some 3 ½ months after Mr Thomas retired. In my opinion, much of the argument put forward for Mr Thomas being knowingly or recklessly indifferent to the effect of this strain on the fund benefits from a liberal application of hindsight.

47. The information available to Mr Thomas prior to his retirement was that whilst the Plan was in deficit, it may have meant the Trustees would have to explore alternative funding strategies, such as asking the members and/or the Principal Employer to increase their contributions, as was alluded to in the Plan Actuary’s letter dated 21 October 2002, and actioned in the Trustees’ minutes dated 27 November 2002. However, there was no suggestion at this time that the Plan would be wound up. Indeed, even as late as February 2003 the trustees were still taking action to avoid the Plan going into wind up by increasing member contributions.

48. It is the fact that the Plan was ultimately put into wind up that puts Mr Thomas’ early retirement into a different light. This is because at the point the Plan is wound up all the members' benefits have to be secured by other means all at the same time. Under normal circumstances for an ongoing scheme the funding simply has to be sufficient for the benefits to be secured as they fall due, which is likely to be a less onerous commitment. Much of the argument regarding Mr Thomas’ actions presupposes that he foresaw the Plan winding up.

49. This then raises the question of whether Mr Thomas should have foreseen that Mitchell Shackleton would not be sold, along with the other National Forge companies, and would ultimately go into administration thus leading to the necessity to wind up the Plan. I am not convinced that Mr Thomas could reasonably be expected to foresee the closure of Mitchell Shackleton. Certainly, in the minutes of the Board Meeting held on 29 November 2002 there is no mention as to the financial position of Mitchell Shackleton. It is only at the Board Meeting which was held on 28 January 2003, when it was known that the company had not been sold, that mention is made of the poor financial state of Mitchell Shackleton and it was suggested that for Mitchell Shackelton’s ongoing viability it would be necessary for the workforce to make significant sacrifices in terms of pay and conditions. I am not persuaded that there was sufficient information for Mr Thomas to foresee in August 2002 that Mitchell Shackleton would not be sold in January 2003 along with the rest of the group, or that it would later go into administration which would result in the Plan being wound up. 

50. I do not find that Masons has been able to show that Mr Thomas acted with wilful disregard for the security of the other members' benefits.

51. Since I do not accept that Mr Thomas could reasonably be expected to have foreseen the winding up of the Plan, it follows that I do not accept that he acted deliberately to put himself in a more fortuitous position, as has been suggested. It has been suggested that as Mr Thomas continued to work for the company he did not truly retire. From the evidence that has been submitted to me it is more likely that Mr Thomas simply wished to remove himself from the strain of senior management because of his health and because of possible changes to the management structure of a company he had served for several years.  I see nothing wrong in him choosing to do so, nor for that matter do I consider that it was wrong of him to take on a less demanding consultancy role for the same company.

52. For the reasons given above I do not uphold this complaint.

DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

5 July 2005
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